FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2015 SEP 11 PM 2: 40

STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DEPUTY

No. 47543-0-II

CENTER FOR ENVIRONMENTAL LAW & POLICY, AMERICAN WHITEWATER, and NORTH CASCADES CONSERVATION COUNCIL,

Appellants,

VS.

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY, PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. I OF OKANOGAN COUNTY, WASHINGTON, and WASHINGTON STATE POLLUTION CONTROL HEARINGS BOARD,

Respondents

## APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Andrea Rodgers, WSBA #38683 Western Environmental Law Center 3026 NW Esplanade Seattle, WA 98117 T: (206) 696-2851

Email: rodgers@westernlaw.org

#### I. Introduction

The Center for Environmental Law & Policy, American Whitewater and North Cascades Conservation Council (collectively "Appellants") hereby submit their opening brief in their appeal of the following decision of the Thurston County Superior Court: Center for Environmental Law & Policy, et al. v. Ecology et al., No. 14-2-01438-(Order Affirming Decision) (April 3, 2015) (Clerk's Papers ("CP") at 139-41).

This case presents a fundamental question of statutory interpretation regarding the Washington Department of Ecology's ("Ecology's") obligation to answer affirmatively four questions *prior* to granting an entity the right to use Washington water. Washington courts have reiterated time and again the importance of Ecology's mandatory duty to "look before you leap" when determining whether to grant an appropriation of the precious water resources that belong to the public. In this case, the Pollution Control Hearings Board ("PCHB") erroneously upheld Ecology's decision to approve a permanent water right in spite of the undisputed fact that a study, that is legally required but has not been done, is needed to determine whether issuance of the water right will be detrimental to the public interest. For the reasons set forth herein, Appellants respectfully request that the Court set aside the Board's

decision and remand for further proceedings in compliance with all applicable law.

## II. Assignments of Error

The trial court erred in affirming the PCHB's affirmance of Ecology's decision issuing a Report of Examination ("ROE") authorizing Public Utility District No. 1 of Okanogan County ("the District") the right to use an additional 600 cubic feet per second ("cfs") of water to generate hydroelectric power at Enloe Dam on the Similkameen River.

# III. Issues Pertaining To Assignments of Error

- A. Whether the PCHB erred in affirming Ecology's issuance of the Report of Examination ("ROE") when it was without information as to how the Project will affect the public interest.
- B. Whether the PCHB erroneously interpreted the Water Code as giving Ecology the discretion to approve a permanent water right in lieu of a preliminary permit when additional information needs to be gathered regarding the Project's impact on the public interest.
- C. Whether the PCHB erred by concluding that the ROE did not need to be conditioned on compliance with the Similkameen River instream flow rule.

#### IV. Statement of the Case

# A. The Similkameen River & the Enloe Hydroelectric Project

The Similkameen River runs about 122 miles from its headwaters in British Columbia to the Okanogan River, near Oroville, Washington. CP at 53. In 1904, the 315 foot-long, 54-foot high concrete Enloe Dam was constructed on the Similkameen River at river mile 8.8, three and half miles east of Oroville. *Id.* The PUD has owned Enloe Dam since 1945, but ceased generating power from it in 1958. *Id.* at 54.

Just 350 feet downriver from Enloe Dam are natural waterfalls known as Similkameen Falls. *Id.* Since 1958, the Similkameen River has flowed naturally over both Enloe Dam and Similkameen Falls producing "an aesthetically pleasing waterfall effect." *Id.* at 21. Natural flows over Enloe Dam and Similkameen Falls typically range from about 500 to 7,000 cfs. *Id.* at 54. Typical dry season (July-October) median flows range from 514 cfs in August to 764 cfs in September. *Id.* 

Pursuant to the Water Resources Act of 1971, RCW 90.54, and the Minimum Water Flows and Levels Act of 1967, RCW 90.22, Ecology adopted a minimum flow rule for the Similkameen River in 1976. WAC 173-549-020(2); CP at 54. The minimum flow varies seasonally and ranges between 400 cfs in September and January-February, and 3400 cfs in May and June. *Id*.

The PUD currently seeks to generate hydroelectric power from Enloe Dam by installing a new powerhouse adjacent to the river, and diverting up to 1,600 cfs from the Similkameen River at the Dam (the "Project"). CP at 54. Water would be discharged back to the river below Similkameen Falls. *Id.* The Project will thus create a de-watered "bypass reach," that would dewater Similkameen Falls, the extent to which will depend upon how much flow is required to pass through the bypass reach. *Id.* 

#### B. The 401 Certification & PCHB Decision

As required by section 401 of the federal Clean Water Act ("CWA"), the PUD applied to Ecology for certification that its Project would comply with state water quality standards, commonly called a "401 Certification." 33 U.S.C. § 1341(a)(1). Ecology's 401 Certification, issued in 2012, set forth a "minimum flow regime in the bypass reach of 10 cfs year round and 30 cfs for mid-July to mid-September[,] otherwise known as the 10/30 flows . . . ." Ctr. for Envtl. Law & Policy et al. v. Ecology. et al., PCHB No. 12-082 (Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law & Final Order (as amended upon reconsideration)) (Aug. 30, 2013) (hereinafter "401 Certification Decision") at 9:16-17. The 10/30 instream flow requirement constitutes approximately a 90-99% reduction in the current flows over Enloe Dam and Similkameen Falls. In a separate

proceeding, Appellants challenged the 401 Certification on the grounds that the 10/30 instream flow requirement did not comply with Washington's water quality standards that protect aesthetic and recreational values of rivers, 401 Certification Decision at 1.

After a hearing on the merits, the Board found that the 10/30 cfs minimum flow requirement was deficient for lack of adequate analysis, as required by Washington's water quality laws. *Id.* at 32:13-15. Specifically:

The Board finds the Appellants met their burden that the aesthetic flow analysis was not sufficiently completed to make a final determination of the flows that will be protective of the aesthetic values.\(^1\) The evidence is not sufficient to make a finding as to the flows that would protect aesthetic values without impairing the quality of the water for the fishery resource, which the Board finds would occur if the Project caused shallow flows over the bedrock shelves. Therefore, the \§ 401 Certification is deficient in this regard without further conditions.

401 Certification Decision at 32:11-16. After considering the evidence presented at the hearing, the Board concluded:

[T]here is not sufficient evidence to make a finding that the 10/30 flows meet the water quality standards for aesthetic values even when balancing these with the protecting of the fisheries. The professional judgment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Board found that the water flowing over the dam and the Falls provides aesthetic values, which the Board directed Ecology to consider in determining whether there is reasonable assurance that the Project operations will meet water quality standards for protected designated and beneficial uses of the River, as required by state and federal water quality laws. *Id.* at 26:1-5.

on aesthetic flows should be based on evidence depicting flow levels, either actual or simulated.

Id. at 31:16-19.

To ascertain what flows would comply with state and federal water quality laws, the Board added a condition to the 401 Certification directing Ecology to develop an aesthetic flow monitoring program that "shall provide for management and control of alternative flows in the bypass reach that will provide opportunities for review, monitoring and analysis of either actual minimum flows or development and review of simulated flows." Id. at 34:5-7. Therefore, minimum flows in the bypass reach that comply with state and federal water quality standards will not be known for up to three years after Project operations begin, or until a simulated study is undertaken. Id. at 34:15 ("The program shall be for a period of time that provides Ecology with sufficient data and information to review actual flow levels or simulated flows."). It is undisputed that neither the PUD nor Ecology has undertaken the required aesthetic flow analysis, using simulated or actual flows, or determined what modified flows would meet all applicable water quality standards and the requirements of the 401 Certification Decision. CP at 56.

#### C. The Water Right & PCHB Decision on Appeal.

On August 6, 2013, Ecology issued Report of Examination ("ROE")<sup>2</sup> No. S4-35342 granting the PUD the right to use an additional 600 cfs to produce hydropower at Enloe Dam.<sup>3</sup> CP at 56. The ROE, which has a 2010 priority date, acknowledged that the water right is consumptive within the bypass reach. *Id.* The original ROE was conditioned on the very same 10/30 cfs instream flow requirement that the Board found to be unsupported in its 401 Certification decision and directed the PUD to "comply with Ecology's 401 Water Quality Certification [for the Enloe Project] and any subsequent updates." CP at 56-57.

The ROE states that the "bypass flows under the 401 Water Quality Certification are designed to protect the aesthetic values of water lowing over the falls." *Id.* As part of its "public welfare analysis," Ecology cited unnamed studies and documents submitted by the PUD during the FERC license application process. *Id.* In the 401 Certification Decision, however, the Board found that these studies "did not address the aesthetics of the flow of the River over the Dam or the Falls." 401 Certification Decision at 14:5-6; *see also Id.* at 13:4-5 (finding that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ecology's approval is set forth in a Report of Examination or ROE, which describes the factual findings for the subsequently issued water right permit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The PUD also owns two pre-existing water rights for the hydroelectric project that are not subject to this appeal. CP at 56.

"PUD did not conduct an aesthetic flow study that analyzes actual flows because flows cannot be manipulated under existing conditions"); *Id.* at 11:17-19 (finding that the PUD conducted recreational studies "but did not study the aesthetics of the water flowing over the Dam or Falls and the impact of the operation of the Project with no flows over the Dam and Falls for most of the year.").

Despite the lack of actual data on how the final Project would affect aesthetic flows, or of any independent analysis of the purported social and economic benefits of the Project, Ecology found that issuing a permanent water right for the Project was not detrimental to the public welfare, stating:

Given that this project will produce valuable electrical energy and will do so in a sustainable manner, that the impacts on the bypass reach are reduced from those under previous project scenarios, that minimum instream flows necessary to protect the aesthetic and instream resources in the bypass reach will be a required condition of project operation, and that any negative impacts are further mitigated by the downstream discharge channel, there is no basis on which to determine that this project will be detrimental to the public welfare.

CP at 57-58. Because it is currently unknown how much flow the PUD will be required to put into the bypass reach and not run through the turbines, it is unknown how much "valuable electrical energy" will be generated by this Project.

On September 6, 2013, Appellants filed a notice of appeal asking the Board to find the ROE invalid and in violation of the law. CP at 58. The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment on all issues. *Id.* On June 24, 2014, the Board issued its decision granting summary judgment for the PUD and Ecology on all issues, modifying the ROE to include the same language in the water right as it required for the 401 Certification, requiring future study of aesthetic flows, but upholding the ROE in all other respects. CP at 19-43.

#### D. Thurston County Superior Court Decision

On July 24, 2014, Appellants filed a Petition for Review of the PCHB's decision in Thurston County Superior Court. CP at 5-14. On April 3, 2015, after briefing and oral argument, Thurston County Superior Court Judge Gary R. Tabor issued a ruling from the bench upholding the PCHB's decision on the grounds that the decision was not arbitrary and capricious. CP at 154. The court concluded:

The issue that they were to rule on is whether or not this was in the public interest. Their finding that by definition the study that would be accomplished as ordered in 401 would be in the public interest, and I see no reason to disagree with that. I don't know what the outcome is going to be as to particular aspects of that decision, but it is clear that that decision is already binding from the standpoint of the 401 ruling authorized it, and so as to that particular study, the outcome is for the purpose of making the right decisions about competing interests.

*Id.* The court also found Ecology's decision to deviate from the minimum instream flows was acceptable:

I guess I'll just say that I agree that subsection five of that [WAC 173-549-020] seems to say that flows can be tailored for a specific project, and I believe that's part of the process that's going to be ongoing here, and I believe that's legally appropriate.

*Id.* at 156. The court did not rule on the issue of whether Ecology was required to issue a preliminary or temporary permit for the Project in light of the fact that additional information is needed to ascertain legally compliant instream flows in the bypass reach. Specifically on that issue the court stated:

I don't believe in so ruling that I need to go back and go into detail about whether or not a preliminary permit would have been appropriate. I'll just indicate that there could have been a preliminary permit. That's allowed by law. But I'm not putting myself in anybody's place to say it had to be or it can't be, but I'm not faced with that particular thing here today so I'm not ruling on that.

*Id.* at 157. The court entered an order affirming the PCHB's decision for the reasons set forth in his ruling from the bench. CP at 145-147.

#### V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to the Washington Administrative Procedures Act ("APA"), RCW 34.05.526 and Washington Rule of Appellate Procedure ("RAP") 2.2(a)(1). This court reviews legal issues and the trial court's conclusions of law *de novo*, based

on the record before the PCHB. Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 879-80, 73 P.3d 369 (2003); City of Union Gap v. Dep't of Ecology, 148 Wn. App. 519, 525, 195 P.3d 580 (2008). The APA authorizes relief if the agency's order is outside the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency, if the agency erroneously interprets or applies the law, or if the order is arbitrary and capricious. RCW 34.05.570(3). Appellants bear the burden of proving that an agency order is invalid. RCW 34.05.570(1)(a).

In reviewing Ecology's ROE, the PCHB was required to interpret and apply the statute governing issuance of new water rights, RCW 90.03.290, as well as RCW 90.54, RCW 90.22, and WAC 173-549-020, the statutes and regulation authorizing the instream flow rule that establishes a senior instream water right for the Similkameen River.

Under the "error of law" standard, this Court may substitute its judgment for that of the agency. *R.D. Merrill v. Pollution Control Hrgs. Bd.*, 137

Wn.2d 118, 142-43, 969 P.2d 458 (1999). When the inquiry demands construction of a statute, review is *de novo. Port of Seattle v. Pollution Control Hrgs. Bd.*, 151 Wn.2d 568, 587, 90 P.3d 659 (2004); *Motley-Motley v. Ecology*, 127 Wn. App. 62, 71-71, 110 P.3d 812 (2005). Absent ambiguity, the Court does not defer to an agency's interpretation of a statute. *Friends of Columbia Gorge, Inc. v. WA Forest Practices Appeals* 

Bd., 129 Wn. App. 35, 47-48, 118 P.3d 354 (2005). An "agency's interpretation [of its own regulations] does not bind [the court], and 'deference to an agency is inappropriate where the agency's interpretation conflicts with a statutory mandate." Puget Soundkeeper Alliance et al. v. WA Pollution Control Hearings Bd., \_\_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_\_, 2015 WL 4540664 (WA Ct. App. July 28, 2015) (quoting Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Granger, 159 Wn.2d 752, 764, 153 P.3d 839, (2007)). Administrative action is arbitrary and capricious if it is willful, unreasoned, and taken without regard to the attending facts and circumstances. Dept. of Ecology v. Theodoratus, 135 Wn.2d 582, 598, 957 P.2d 1241, (1998); Skokomish Indian Tribe v. Fitzsimmons, 97 Wn. App. 84, 92-94, 982 P.2d 1179 (1999).

Because the decision appealed is a summary judgment order, there are no findings of fact. The court must therefore overlay the APA standard of review with the summary judgment standard. This court evaluates facts in the record *de novo* and the law in light of the error of law standard, also *de novo*. Skagit County v. Skagit Hill Recycling, Inc., 162 Wn. App. 308, 317-18, 253 P.3d 1135 (2011) (citing Verizon Northwest, Inc. v. Wash. Emp't Sec. Dept., 164 Wn.2d 909, 916, 194 P.3d 255 (2008)).

#### VI. Argument

# A. The PCHB Erred In Assuming The ROE Was Not Detrimental To The Public Interest.

The PCHB erred in finding that the PUD's water right complied with the public interest and public welfare requirements that comprise part of the "four tests" for which affirmative findings are required before a water right may issue. RCW 90.03.290. In a classic example of putting the cart before the horse, Ecology issued the ROE before having the information before it to make the determination that there would be no detriment to the public interest. The PCHB erroneously interpreted and applied the law by affirming issuance of the PUD's water right, and in concluding that Ecology has the discretion to assume that there will be no detriment to the public interest in the face of incomplete information.

It is black letter law that, when processing a water right application, Ecology must make four affirmative findings *before* it may authorize a right to use water. Ecology must find that (1) water is (physically) available; (2) the use is beneficial; (3) senior water rights will not be impaired;<sup>4</sup> and (4)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As discussed in Section VI.E, *infra*, the requirement to prevent impairment of existing water rights includes preventing impairment of legally protected instream flow rights. RCW 90.03.247.

the new use will not be detrimental to the public welfare. RCW 90.03.290. Lummi Nation v. State of Washington, 170 Wn.2d 247, 252-53, 241 P.3d 1220 (2011); Postema v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 142 Wn.2d 68, 79, 11 P.3d 726 (2000); Theodoratus, 135 Wn.2d at 590-91; Hillis v. Dept. of Ecology, 131 Wn.2d 373, 384, 932 P.2d 139 (1997); Stempel v. Dept. of Water Resources, 82 Wn.2d 109, 115, 508 P.2d 166 (1973); Hubbard v. Dept. of Ecology, 86 Wn. App. 119, 124, 936 P.2d 27 (1997). When issuing a water right for power purposes, as here, Ecology must "hav[e] in mind the highest feasible use of the waters belonging to the public" when determining "whether the proposed development is likely to prove detrimental to the public interest." RCW 90.03.290(1) and (3).

In affirming Ecology's approval of a water right,<sup>6</sup> the Board recognized, as it had to, that affirmative findings on the four tests are required before a water right permit is issued. CP at 32 (citing Postema, 142 Wn.2d at 79). The PCHB agreed with Appellants that aesthetic values of the Similkameen River are to be protected under the water code through the public interest tests. CP at 33 (citing RCW 90.54.020(3)(a)) ("the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As discussed in Section VI.D, *infra*, although Ecology is not statutorily authorized to grant a water permit when one or more of the four tests are not satisfied, the agency does have discretion to issue a preliminary permit, in lieu of a denial, under those circumstances. RCW 90.03.290(2)(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Ecology's approval is set forth in a Report of Examination or ROE, which describes the factual findings for the subsequently issued water right permit. See CP at 56-57. The ROE is the final agency action appealed in this matter.

legislature declared that the preservation of aesthetic values is a declared beneficial use of water and as a matter of public policy must be considered in the allocation and management of the waters of the state."). The Board also acknowledged that the ROE contained insufficient information to support affirmative findings on the public interest tests for the Enloe water right. CP at 34 ("Ecology still needs additional information to make a public interest determination in relation to the PUD water right.").

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