# WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

No. 47543-0-II

## CENTER FOR ENVIRONMENTAL LAW & POLICY, AMERICAN WHITEWATER, and NORTH CASCADES CONSERVATION COUNCIL,

Appellants,

vs.

### WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY, PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF OKANOGAN COUNTY, WASHINGTON, AND WASHINGTON STATE POLLUTION CONTROL HEARINGS BOARD,

Respondents.

## RESPONDENT PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF OKANOGAN COUNTY'S RESPONSE BRIEF

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

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

#### A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews PCHB orders under the Washington Administrative Procedure Act ("APA"). *Port of Seattle v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 151 Wn.2d 568, 587, 90 P.3d 659 (2004) ("*Port of Seattle*"); RCW 43.21B.180. Under the APA, the burden of demonstrating the "invalidity of agency action is on the party asserting invalidity." RCW 34.05.570(1)(a); *Port of Seattle*, 151 Wn.2d at 587. The APA allows the Court to reverse the PCHB only in certain circumstances, including if the PCHB's order is arbitrary and capricious, if the order is not supported by substantial evidence, or if the PCHB erroneously interpreted or applied the law. RCW 34.05.570.

Appellants argue that the Court's review of this case is *de novo* because the issues in this case involve statutory construction. (*See* App. Br. at 1, 10-11.) This case, however, primarily concerns Ecology's exercise of its discretionary authority under the Water Code.<sup>7</sup> The Washington Supreme Court has determined that courts must give

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The exception is Appellants' final argument, which concerns Ecology's minimum flow rules for the Similkameen River. This issue concerns Ecology's interpretation of its own rules, and this interpretation is also entitled to deference. *See Kaiser Aluminum & Chemical Corp. v. Dep't of Ecology*, 32 Wn. App. 399, 404, 647 P.2d 551 (1982). For the reasons described in Part IVE, however, no deference is needed because the rules are plain and Appellants' interpretation of these rules is contrary to their plain text.

deference to Ecology's water rights permitting decisions in appeals from the PCHB due to the discretionary nature of Ecology's authority under the Water Code. Port of Seattle, 151 Wn.2d at 593-94; State Dep't of Ecology v. Theodoratus, 135 Wn.2d 582, 589, 957 P.2d 1241 (1998); State Dep't of Ecology v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Jefferson Cnty., 121 Wn.2d 179, 200-01, 849 P.2d 646 (1993) aff'd sub nom.; PUD No. 1 of Jefferson Cntv. v. Washington Dep't of Ecology, 511 U.S. 700, 114 S. Ct. 1900, 128 L. Ed. 2d 716 (1994) ("*Elkhorn I*") ("[I]n analyzing the [PCHB]'s decision under the clearly erroneous standard, we also give due deference to Ecology's expertise in this area.") (emphasis added). And when Ecology and the PCHB agree, as they did in this case, courts "are loath to override the judgment of both agencies, whose combined expertise merits substantial deference." Port of Seattle, 151 Wn.2d at 600 (emphasis added). The appropriate standard of review therefore is abuse of discretion. See Schuh v. Ecology, 100 Wn.2d 180, 186-87, 667 P.2d 64 (1983).

Appellants also argue that this Court's review of facts in the record is *de novo* because the PCHB decided this case on summary judgment. This is true, but irrelevant because the parties agreed before the PCHB that there are no material issues of fact in this case. Specifically, the PCHB stated:

17

The parties to this case agree that no genuine issues of material fact exist and this matter can be resolved on summary judgment. The Board concurs and concludes that all issues may be fully resolved on summary judgment.

(CP 31.) There is therefore no material dispute of fact before the Court in the instant appeal.

## B. The PCHB and the Superior Court properly held that Ecology's issuance of the District's water right was within Ecology's discretionary authority under the Water Code

Appellants' first three arguments<sup>8</sup> are all based on the theory that specific, numeric flows for aesthetics must be established before Ecology can properly determine whether the Project's water use is consistent with the public interest requirement of RCW 90.03.290. Because the aesthetic study required by the 401 Certification is not yet complete, Appellants assert that Ecology improperly granted the District a water right "in the face of incomplete information." (App. Br. 13, 15, 17, 21.) This argument misconstrues the nature of the water right public interest test and Ecology's discretionary authority under the Water Code. Appellants also misstate the purpose of the aesthetic study ordered by the PCHB in its 401 Appeal decision.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See Appellants' Opening Brief parts VIA-C.

Aesthetics are only one element of the public interest in water use, but Appellants conflate the broad public interest with a specific determination of aesthetic flows in the Bypass. The PCHB properly affirmed Ecology's conclusion that the Project's water use will not be detrimental to the public interest, based in part on the sustainable energy benefits of the Project and the 401 Certification conditions designed to protect instream resources, including aesthetics.

### 1. Ecology explicitly found compliance with each prong of the statutory four part test for issuance of a water right

The District agrees with Appellants that the Water Code provides a four part test for issuance of a water right, but disagrees with Appellants' characterization of how that test was applied in this case. Ecology must find compliance with each element of the four part test of RCW 90.03.290(3) in order to issue a water right. One prong of this test requires that the proposed water use will not "be detrimental to the public welfare." RCW 90.03.290(3). With regard to water rights for hydropower, the Water Code requires Ecology to investigate whether an appropriation of water for hydropower is "*likely* to prove detrimental to the public interest." RCW 90.03.290(1) (emphasis added).

Appellants mischaracterize the findings in Ecology's water right ROE. Specifically, Appellants claim that Ecology "assumed" that the District's water right would not be detrimental to the public interest. (App. Br. 13.) Appellants also allege that Ecology "substituted" the aesthetics study for an "explicit, affirmative finding" on the public interest test. (App. Br. 24.) These claims are inaccurate because the ROE includes explicit findings on each element of the four part test.

Ecology's public interest decision was not based on an assumption, but rather relied, in part, on the PCHB's adjudication of the 401 Appeal. By the time that Ecology issued the ROE in August 2013, the PCHB had concurred with Ecology that the 401 Certification's aesthetic instream flow requirements must satisfy the Water Code's public interest standard (RCW 90.03.290 and RCW 90.54.020), as well as state water quality standards (RCW 90.48). (*See* CR 188-89.) Moreover, the PCHB had issued its initial 401 Appeal Final Order, which requires further monitoring and evaluation of the 10/30 cfs aesthetic instream flows to ensure satisfaction of the Water Code's public interest standard. The ROE explicitly incorporates the conditions of the 401 Certification, including future amendments to the 401 Certification resulting from the aesthetic study. (CR 124.) The PCHB's resolution of the 401 Appeal therefore

20

informed Ecology's public interest finding for the District's water right.

As explained by the PCHB:

[T]his is not a case in which available information shows that the applicant cannot meet some aspect of the four part test for a water right. Rather, the [PCHB] concluded that some additional assessment is needed to finalize the appropriate level of aesthetically protective flows on the Similkameen River in the area of the project. However, in approving and conditioning the § 401 Certification, the [PCHB] also provided Ecology a basis upon which to conclude that there was no "detriment to the public welfare" as required by the four part test of RCW 90.03.290.

 $(CR 522-23.)^9$ 

The ROE also includes explicit findings regarding the public

interest element of RCW 90.03.290. Specifically, Ecology determined

that the Project's water use will not be detrimental to the public interest

given the public benefits of the Project and the 401 Certification

conditions designed to protect fish, aesthetics, and other instream

resources:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>o</sup> Appellants quote an earlier part of the PCHB's decision out of context to claim that "the [PCHB] also acknowledged that the ROE contained insufficient information to support affirmative findings on the public interest tests for the Enloe water right." (App. Br. 15.) The full quote referenced by Appellants states "[t]hus, *as argued by [Petitioner Center For Environmental Law and Policy]*. Ecology still needs additional information to make a public interest determination in relation to the PUD water right." *Id.* The PCHB, therefore, was simply summarizing Appellants' argument here, not stating the PCHB's own conclusion. This is clear from the holding at CR 522-23 quoted above.

Given that this project will produce valuable electrical energy and will do so in a sustainable manner, that the impacts on the bypass reach are reduced from those under previous project scenarios, that minimum instream flows necessary to protect the aesthetic and instream resources in the bypass reach will be a required condition of project operation, and that any negative impacts are further mitigated by the downstream discharge channel, there is no basis on which to determine that this project will be detrimental to the public welfare.

(CR 133.) (emphasis added). Ecology's ROE therefore includes the required public interest finding.

In sum, there is no question that Ecology must find compliance with the four part test before issuing a water right, nor is there any question that Ecology in fact did make the requisite findings in the ROE. These findings include a public interest finding that relies in part on the PCHB's resolution of the 401 Appeal.

# 2. Appellants conflate the public interest finding required by RCW 90.03.290 with a determination of specific aesthetic flows in the Bypass

Appellants' mischaracterization of the ROE reflects Appellants' larger distortion of the nature of the Water Code's public interest test. Specifically, Appellants equate the public interest with the establishment of specific numeric aesthetic flows in the Bypass. Nothing in Washington law, however, requires Ecology to impose specific aesthetic flows before issuing a water right.

The Water Code demonstrates that specific numeric findings are not required for Ecology to make a public interest finding. The public interest in aesthetics is established in RCW 90.54.020, which provides that the "[u]tilization and management of waters of the state shall be guided by the following <u>general declaration of fundamentals</u>." (Emphasis added). As this provision suggests, the statute requires Ecology to consider and balance a broad range of factors under the rubric of the public interest, including, for example, "fish and wildlife maintenance," "hydroelectric power production," and "preservation of environmental and aesthetic values."<sup>10</sup>

(1) Uses of water for domestic, stock watering, industrial, commercial, agricultural, irrigation, <u>hydroelectric power production</u>, mining, <u>fish and</u> <u>wildlife maintenance and enhancement</u>, recreational, and thermal power production purposes, and <u>preservation of environmental and aesthetic values</u>, <u>and</u> <u>all other uses compatible with the enjoyment of the</u> <u>public waters of the state</u>, are declared to be beneficial.

(2) <u>Allocation of waters among potential uses and</u> <u>users shall be based generally on the securing of the</u> <u>maximum net benefits for the people of the state</u>. Maximum net benefits shall constitute total benefits

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>RCW 90.54.020 includes the following language: Utilization and management of the waters of the state shall be guided by the following <u>general declaration of</u> <u>fundamentals</u>:

Washington courts have not required numeric certainty or a formulaic application of the public interest test, but instead have recognized that Ecology has the discretion and expertise to evaluate the public interest holistically. See Hillis v. State, Dep't of Ecology, 131 Wn.2d 373, 397, 932 P.2d 139 (1997) (deferring to Ecology's expertise regarding the public interest); Schuh, 100 Wn.2d at 187 (Ecology "is in a far better position to judge what is in the public interest regarding water permits than a court."). For instance, in *Concerned Morningside Citizens* v. State of Washington, Dep't of Ecology, et al., the PCHB agreed with Ecology that a change in water rights to accommodate a proposed dairy would not negatively affect the public interest. Concerned Morningside Citizens v. State of Washington, Dep't of Ecology, et al., PCHB No. 03-016, 2003 WL 22505701 (Oct. 31, 2003). In weighing the public interest, the PCHB considered the many factors that were before Ecology, including the zoning of the area, Ecology's belief that water quality standards would be protected, and the ROE's requirement to send data to

(emphasis added)

less costs including opportunities lost.

<sup>(3)</sup> The quality of the natural environment shall be protected and, where possible, enhanced as follows:

<sup>(</sup>a) <u>Perennial rivers and streams of the state shall be</u> retained with base flows necessary to provide for preservation of wildlife, fish, scenic, aesthetic and other environmental values, and navigational values.

Ecology and allow Ecology to inspect the water use records. *Id.* at \*8. The PCHB concluded that, "[w]hen all of these considerations <u>are viewed</u> <u>together</u>, the Board cannot find the proposed water right changes are detrimental to the public interest." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Moreover, Ecology and the PCHB often include conditions in water rights that require future studies and potential corrective action to ensure compliance with the public interest test. For example, in a series of cases involving the risk of seawater intrusion into local aquifers due to increased groundwater use, Ecology imposed conditions that required regular well tests and empowered Ecology to curtail water use if the tests revealed risks of seawater intrusion. These adaptive management<sup>11</sup> conditions enabled Ecology to approve new groundwater rights in aquifers prone to seawater intrusion consistent with the public interest in water quality protection. *See Citizens for Sensible Dev. v. State of Washington*, PCHB 90-134, 1991 WL 137104 at \*2, 4; *Bucklin Hill Neighborhood Ass 'n v. State of Washington*, PCHB 88-177, 1989 WL 107498 at \*9; *Wilbert v. State of Washington*, PCHB 82-193, 1983 WL 197441 at \*2-3.

The PCHB endorsed this approach as appropriate under the Water Code's public interest standard. *See Citizens for Sensible Dev.*, 1991 WL

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Ecology defines "adaptive management" as "an iterative and rigorous process used to improve decision-making and achieve objectives in the face of uncertainty." (CR 144.)

#### 137104 at \*2, \*4; Bucklin Hill, 1989 WL 107498 at \*9; Wilbert, 1983 WL

197441 at \*2-3. In *Bucklin Hill*, for example, the PCHB stated that:

Sea water intrusion, were it to occur, would violate the public welfare standard. Our findings do not support the likelihood of this effect. But, again, the monitoring conditions of the permit provide a mechanism for detection and correction.

*Bucklin Hill*, 1989 WL 107498 at \*9. In reaching this conclusion, the PCHB rejected the appellant's argument that Ecology could not make a public interest determination on the proposed water use until the planning for the underlying residential project was "more precise." *See id.* at \*8. The PCHB therefore has endorsed adaptive management conditions where the ultimate mitigation solution is unknown at the time of water right approval, allowing for later imposition of conditions on water use informed by the monitoring results to protect the public interest.

Moreover, in *Wilbert*, the PCHB added conditions that created an undefined limitation on the quantity of water that could be used under the permanent groundwater right. Specifically, the PCHB added the following two conditions to the disputed groundwater permit "to conform it with the public welfare requirement" of the Water Code in response to uncertainty regarding future aquifer conditions:

DWT 27956142v6 0095616-000004

1. The permittee or its successor(s) shall report to [Ecology], in April or August of each year or at such times as [Ecology] determines to be appropriate, the chloride concentration and static water level of the well(s) authorized by the permit.

2. The <u>withdrawals of groundwater under</u> <u>this permit may be limited</u>, or other appropriate action may be required, by [Ecology] order to prevent sea water intrusion <u>notwithstanding whether chloride</u> <u>concentration exceeds 250 mg/L in the</u> well(s) authorized by this permit.

Wilbert, 1983 WL 197441 at \*3 (emphasis added). Wilbert therefore

demonstrates that specific numeric water use limitations are not required

at the time of permit issuance in order to meet the public interest standard.

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